Supreme Court of Florida

COSTA T. VATHIS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC03-2268

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT AUGUSTUS HARPER Robert Augustus Harper Law Firm, P.A. 325 West Park Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301-1413 (850) 224-5900/fax (850) 224-9800 FL Bar No. 127600/GA Bar No. 328360

MICHAEL ROBERT UFFERMAN Robert Augustus Harper Law Firm, P.A. FL Bar No. 114227

Counsel for Petitioner VATHIS

A.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS.

On 17 July 1998, Costa T. Vathis (hereinafter Petitioner Vathis) was convicted by a jury of one count of sexual battery on a child under twelve by a person eighteen years of age or older and one count of lewd, lascivious, or indecent assault on a person under the age of sixteen.¹ (R-64).² The evidence presented by the State at trial consisted of the testimony of the alleged victim, K.S.³ (R-68), and Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) polygraph examiner Tim Robinson (R-84), who testified pursuant to a stipulation with trial counsel that Petitioner Vathis had failed a polygraph examination concerning his involvement in the alleged crime. (R-29). The trial court sentenced Petitioner Vathis to life imprisonment with a twenty-five-year minimum mandatory on count I, and three years' imprisonment on count II. (R-64). Petitioner Vathis subsequently appealed the judgment and sentence, and the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the convictions on 12 March 1999. (R-64). See Vathis v. State, 729 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

¹ The alleged victim was eleven years old at the time of the purported incident.

² References to the First District Court of Appeal record, case number 1D02-3906, will be made by the designation "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

³ Out of respect for all of the parties in this case, only the initials of the alleged victim will be used in this brief. *See J.H.C. v. State*, 642 So. 2d 601, 601 n.1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994).

On 24 April 2000, Petitioner Vathis filed a motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. In his motion, Petitioner Vathis raised seven claims, two of which are relevant to the instant proceeding: (1) trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object and move for an immediate mistrial at the conclusion of the alleged minor victim's testimony when her parents spontaneously rushed to the witness stand, causing a highly emotional display, and thereafter escorted the alleged victim back to the gallery without the trial court's permission and in full view of the jury and (2) trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by advising Petitioner Vathis to take a polygraph examination and entering a stipulation that the results of the examination would be admissible at trial. (R-5-7).

The trial court summarily denied the postconviction motion on 26 November 2001. Petitioner Vathis timely appealed the denial. On 30 April 2003, the First District Court of Appeal issued an order requiring the State to file an answer brief pursuant to *Toler v. State*, 493 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). In particular, the district court directed the State to respond to Petitioner Vathis' claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing "to object and move for immediate mistrial at the conclusion of the victim's testimony when her parents spontaneously rushed to the witness stand and escorted the victim back to the gallery without the court's permission and in full view of the jury." 30 April 2003 order, First District Court of Appeal, Case Number 1D02-

3906.

On 24 July 2003, the district court issued a written opinion affirming the trial court's denial of Petitioner Vathis' postconviction motion. See Vathis v. State, 859 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). The district court affirmed the denial of six of Petitioner Vathis' postconviction claims without discussion. The remaining issue, addressed in the opinion, was whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object and move for immediate mistrial at the conclusion of the alleged minor victim's testimony when her parents spontaneously rushed to the witness stand and escorted her back to the gallery without the trial court's permission and in full view of the jury. The district court concluded that Petitioner Vathis' claim was facially insufficient. See Vathis, 859 So. 2d at 518. The Honorable Richard W. Ervin III issued a strongly worded dissenting opinion reasoning that Petitioner Vathis had in fact stated a facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Judge Ervin explained that the majority failed to follow the proper standard of review for a summary denial of postconviction motion:

I concur with the majority's decision to affirm the denial of appellant's postconviction motion as to all claims except the one addressed in the opinion, i.e., whether the trial court erred in summarily denying the claim for ineffective assistance of counsel regarding defense counsel's failure to object and move for mistrial at the time the victim's parents spontaneously rushed to the witness stand and escorted the victim back to her seat without the court's permission and in full view of the jury. As to that issue, I would reverse and remand for further proceedings, because the trial court's order and its attachments fail to show conclusively that appellant is not entitled to relief on this claim. Although the court attached documents suggesting that the issue was addressed in a post-verdict motion, it is impossible to discern whether the vague allegation in the motion, "Witness misconduct by the victim's mother," is the same as appellant's allegation, which was made under oath, that the parents rushed to the stand and accompanied their daughter to her seat.

With due respect to the majority, I cannot agree that appellant's motion is legally insufficient under the rule established in *Strickland v*. *Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). . . . In assessing [Petitioner Vathis'] allegations, this court must not only consider the dictates of *Strickland*, but it must also consider the requirements set forth in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Here, the trial court issued an order to show cause requesting the state to file a response to appellant's motion. This action implies that the trial court found the motion facially sufficient to require a response under rule 3.850, which states: "Unless the motion, files, and records of the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief, the court shall order the state attorney to file an answer[.]"

Although this court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the range of reasonable professional assistance, appellant has sufficiently alleged deficient performance by asserting that counsel failed to object to a highly emotional display in the jury's presence. The parents' conduct, if true, could have unduly bolstered the victim's credibility. Compare People v. Adams, 23 Cal. Rptr. 2d 512 (Cal. Ct. App. 1993) (concluding that the presence of a support person at the witness stand while the victim testified affects the presentation of demeanor evidence by changing the dynamics of the testimonial experience); State v. Suka, 777 P.2d 240 (Haw. 1989) (holding it was error to permit a counselor to accompany a 15-year-old witness at the witness stand). Moreover, possible prejudice caused by emotional displays in the courtroom is a proper subject of objection and instruction by the court. See, e.g., Beasley v. State, 774 So. 2d 649, 669 (Fla. 2000); Burns v. State, 609 So. 2d 600, 604-05 (Fla. 1992).

The trial court denied this claim, in part, for the reason that the lack of objection was a matter of trial tactics, and the majority appears to uphold that ruling when it states that "[s]ome lawyers might conclude that the jurors would see the parents' emotional display for what it is, and that an objection would be out of place." Whether an objection was wise under the circumstances is a matter of trial tactics, and this court has said that postconviction motions should not generally be denied based on tactical decisions by counsel in the absence of an evidentiary hearing. *See Walker v. State*, 678 So. 2d 924, 925 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) ("when a court is confronted with a claim of ineffective assistance, a finding that some action or inaction by defense counsel was tactical is generally inappropriate without an evidentiary hearing").

As for the prejudice prong, the majority ignores appellant's allegations, made under oath, that the emotional display tainted the jury's verdict due to consideration of sympathy. Although the majority might disagree, as previously stated, nothing attached to the order conclusively shows otherwise. The majority's reliance on the standard instruction to the jury, admonishing the jurors not to decide the case based on sympathy or anger, is misplaced, because that instruction, given at the conclusion of trial, was too remote to counter the prejudicial effects of the improper emotional display occurring during the state's case-in-chief.

In that I conclude that appellant's motion stated a facially sufficient claim for ineffective assistance of counsel on this point, I would reverse and remand for further proceedings.

Vathis, 859 So. 2d at 519-21 (Ervin, J., dissenting). Judge Ervin argued that the case

should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing on Petitioner Vathis' claim.

Petitioner Vathis timely sought discretionary review with this Court, asserting that the opinion below expressly and directly conflicts with *Beasley v. State*, 774 So. 2d 649, 669 (Fla. 2000), concerning whether prejudice caused by emotional displays in the courtroom is a proper subject of objection and instruction by the trial court. Petitioner Vathis also argued that the decision below expressly and 1 directly conflicts with *Rose v. State*, 774 So. 2d 629, 632 (Fla. 2000), concerning the proper standard of review of

a trial court's summary denial of a postconviction motion. Petitioner Vathis further claimed that the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with *Reaves v. State*, 826 So. 2d 932, 938 (Fla. 2002), concerning whether a finding that some action or inaction by defense counsel was "tactical" is appropriate without affording the defendant an evidentiary hearing. Finally, Petitioner Vathis alleged that the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with *Seminole Shell Co. v. Clearwater Flying Co.*, 156 So. 2d 543 (Fla. App. 1963), concerning whether a trial court should immediately instruct a jury in order to cure potential prejudice caused by improper conduct or evidence. On 25 March 2004, the Court accepted jurisdiction of the case below and directed the parties to submit briefs on the merits.

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

Petitioner Vathis raises two issues in this brief. First, the district court erred by

affirming the summary denial of Petitioner Vathis' claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object and move for an immediate mistrial at the conclusion of the testimony of the alleged victim when the parents of the witness rushed to the witness stand and escorted her back from the stand in a highly emotional display in full view of the jury. The district court did not apply the correct standard of review for reviewing a trial court's summary denial of a postconviction motion. Rather than accepting as true Petitioner Vathis' factual allegations set forth in his postconviction motion, the district court weighed and rejected Petitioner Vathis' allegations. Prejudice caused by emotional displays in the courtroom is a proper subject of objection and instruction by the trial court. Therefore, Petitioner Vathis raised a facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance of counsel due to trial counsel's failure to object to the improper emotional display that occurred at trial. Petitioner Vathis is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this postconviction claim.

Second, the district court erred by affirming the summary denial of Petitioner Vathis' claim that trial counsel was ineffective for advising Petitioner Vathis to take a polygraph examination and entering a stipulation that the results of the examination would be admissible at trial. Polygraph results are inadmissible at trial to prove the guilt or innocence of a defendant. Petitioner Vathis raised a facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based on trial counsel's stipulation that the results of the polygraph examination would be admitted at trial. Petitioner Vathis is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this postconviction claim.

E. ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY.

1. The district court erred by affirming the summary denial of Petitioner Vathis' claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object and move for an immediate mistrial at the conclusion of the testimony of the alleged victim when the parents of the witness rushed to the witness stand and escorted her back from the stand in a highly emotional display in full view of the jury.

a. Standard of Review.

The Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. *See* Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The instant case concerns a trial court's summary denial of a criminal defendant's postconviction motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. In *McLin v. State*, the Court reiterated that appellate courts must adhere to the following standard of review when considering a summary denial of a postconviction motion:

To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. Further, where no evidentiary hearing is held below, we must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record.

827 So. 2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002).⁴

⁴ As explained in *McLin*, the standard of review after a summary denial is in contrast the standard of review following an evidentiary hearing, "where the

b. Argument.

In *Vathis v. State*, 859 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003), the First District Court of Appeal held that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to an emotional outburst at the witness stand in the presence of the jury. Contrary to the district court's opinion, Petitioner Vathis submits that the presence of nontestifying thirdparties at the witness stand at the same time as the testifying witness, in the presence of the jury, can and did lead to a prejudicial emotional outburst. Petitioner Vathis further submits that the emotional outburst was so egregious that no reasonable and effective attorney would have failed to object, failed to move for a curative instruction, and failed to move for a mistrial.

Petitioner Vathis submits that the district court's decision in *Vathis* was contrary to established Florida precedent. As explained below, the district court improperly applied the standard of review of a trial court's summary denial of a criminal defendant's postconviction motion. Upon examining the merits of Petitioner Vathis' claim, it is clear that Petitioner Vathis has stated a facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and is therefore entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim.

appellate court affords deference to the trial courts factual findings"... "and independently reviews deficiency and prejudice as mixed questions of law and fact." *McLin*, 827 So. 2d at 954 n.4 (citations omitted).

(1). The district court in *Vathis* did not apply the correct standard of review of a trial court's summary denial of a postconviction motion.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 provides that "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief, the motion shall be denied without a hearing . . . [and] a copy of that portion of the files and records that conclusively shows that the movant is entitled to no relief shall be attached to the order." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d). "On appeal from the denial of relief, unless the record shows conclusively that the appellant is entitled to no relief, the order shall be reversed and the cause remanded for an evidentiary hearing or other appropriate relief." Fla. R. App. P. 9.141(2)(D). For an appellate court to uphold the trial court's summary denial of the claims raised in a rule 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. See Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999). Furthermore, when no evidentiary hearing is conducted on such claims, an appellate court must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted in the record. See Peede, 748 So. 2d at 257.

(a). Circuit court postconviction proceedings.

In his postconviction motion, Petitioner Vathis claimed that trial counsel

rendered ineffective assistance⁵ by failing to object and move for an immediate mistrial at the conclusion of the testimony of the alleged victim when the parents of the witness rushed to the stand and escorted her back from the stand in a highly emotional display in full view of the jury. (R-7).⁶ The trial court denied Petitioner Vathis' claim without

⁶ In his postconviction motion, Petitioner Vathis alleged:

Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object and move for an immediate mistrial at the conclusion of the testimony of the alleged victim, [K.S.]. At the conclusion of the testimony of [K.S.], her parents spontaneously rushed to the witness stand without permission from or request by the Court, and escorted her back to the gallery in full view of the jury. Such an emotional display should not have been permitted by the Court, and the trial judge failed to exercise proper control over courtroom proceedings. The failure to object by defense counsel resulted in the physical display being omitted from the record, and the failure to object further prevented any appellate review of the issue of whether the silent accord of the Court constituted vouching and bolstering of the credibility of the alleged victim. Further, the failure to object and move for mistrial prevented appellate review of the harmful and prejudicial nature of such an emotional display in close proximity to the jury. The spontaneous display of emotion by the parents served solely to garner sympathy for the alleged victim, thereby tainting the subsequent jury verdict due to the consideration of sympathy and the silent bolstering of the testimony of the alleged victim by the Court absent a timely objection and motion for mistrial. But for the omission by counsel, the trial court would have admonished the parents for violating court procedure, immediately instructed the jury to focus only upon the evidence,

⁵ "The test to be applied by the trial court when evaluating an ineffectiveness claim is two-pronged: The defendant must show both that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that the defendant was prejudiced by the deficiency." *Bruno v. State*, 807 So. 2d 55, 61 (Fla. 2002) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)).

an evidentiary hearing. In its order summarily denying relief, the trial court stated the

following regarding the witness misconduct claim:

The record reflects that Defendant's attorney did raise this issue. *See* Answer Brief of Appellee on Appeal at 20. When Defendant's attorney filed the renewed judgment of acquittal in this case, he filed a supplement stating that it "provides this Court with additional matters to consider while ruling on the Defendant's motions." *See id.* at 20. One of the "additional matters" listed in the motion was "Witness misconduct by the victim's mother." *Id.* The trial court orally denied Defendant's motion for new trial and renewed motion for JOA. *See id.* Therefore, the trial court obviously took Defendant's argument into consideration, but determined that any alleged misconduct was insufficient to show prejudice to Defendant. Defendant has failed to show prejudice under the *Strickland* [v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)] standard. Nothing in the record supports an allegation of misconduct by the victim's mother, and no basis for an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel exists.

The record reflects that the judge, at the close of the evidence, instructed the jury that the case had to be decided on the evidence from the witnesses, exhibits, and the judge's instructions. *See* Trial Transcript at 261. The jury was further instructed that the case "must not be decided for or against anyone because you feel sorry for anyone or are angry at anyone." *Id.* Therefore, the jury was instructed to focus only on the evidence of the case, and the Defendant has failed to prove prejudice.

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