IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COSTA T. VATHIS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC03-2268

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

Petitioner contends that the First District Court of Appeal reversibly erred in affirming the trial court's summary denial of his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object and move for mistrial when the parents of the child sexual battery victim allegedly engaged in an emotional display by escorting her from the stand following her testimony.

The State asserts that conflict jurisdiction does not lie because the cases relied upon by Petitioner do not present identical factual situations to which the same law is applied to yield contrary results. This Court should decline review and determine that jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

On the merits, the Petitioner failed to present a legally sufficient claim for relief. The trial court correctly denied relief summarily disposing of the claim.

ISSUE II

Petitioner contends that the trial court erred in summarily denying his claim that counsel rendered ineffective assistance by advising him to take a polygraph examination and in entering into a stipulation that the results would be admissible at trial. He asserts that even where the lower court did not address this issue in its opinion, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction to review this issue.

The State disagrees. While this Court has authority to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based, its authority is discretionary and is properly exercised only when these other issues have been properly briefed and argued and are dispositive of the case. Here, as shown in issue one, conflict jurisdiction does not lie. Even if it did, this issue is not dispositive of the case and the Court should decline review.

On the merits, the State submits that Petitioner is unable to show either deficient performance or prejudice. The record attachments establish that counsel had no reason to advise him not to take the examination where Petitioner steadfastly maintained his innocence and the fact that Petitioner was not able to obtain a favorable result, does not make counsel's actions ineffective. Should this Court find that the attachments do not conclusively refute the claim, then the cause should be remanded for attachment of additional documentation or for an evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING PETITIONER'S CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE CHILD VICTIM'S PARENTS ESCORTING HER FROM THE WITNESS STAND WAS FACIALLY INSUFFICIENT AFTER THE TRIAL COURT SUMMARILY DENIED RELIEF? (Restated)

Petitioner contends that the First District Court of Appeal reversibly erred in affirming the trial court's summary denial of his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object and move for mistrial when the parents of the child sexual battery victim allegedly engaged in an emotional display by escorting her from the stand following her testimony. The State disagrees.

<u>Jurisdiction</u>

Appellant asserts that this Court has jurisdiction to review this case based upon Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and Article V, § 3(b)(3) which grant the Court discretionary jurisdiction to review those decisions of a district court of appeal which expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court or this Court on the same question of law.

A conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision."

Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Accord Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling

Service, Inc., 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986)(rejecting "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. Reaves, supra; Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980)("regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting or concurring opinion"). In addition, it is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." Jenkins, 385 So. 2d at 1359.

All of the cases relied upon by Petitioner fail to satisfy the standard by which conflict jurisdiction is established. For example, Beasley v. State, 774 So.2d 649 (Fla. 2000) was a direct appeal in which Beasley challenged imposition of the death penalty. It is distinguishable from the instant case as Beasley did not address whatsoever a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at trial. Additionally, Beasley challenged the court's failure to sequester members of the victim's family who were also witnesses in the case and the potential prejudice caused by their emotional reactions. Also unlike this case, the incidents involving the family appear on the record as Beasley's trial counsel repeatedly brought to the court's attention disruptions caused by the family and the trial court repeatedly cautioned persons in the courtroom to keep their comments and emotions in check, ensuring the jury was not distracted by emotional reactions. Beasley is thus factually distinguishable

from this case since the 'emotional outburst' complained of by Petitioner was not even recorded by the court reporter.

Reaves v. State, 826 So.2d 932 (Fla. 2000), also relied upon by Petitioner, is also distinguishable from the instant case. There, Reaves asserted entitlement to an evidentiary hearing after the trial court summarily denied his claim that counsel, on retrial, was ineffective for failing to present a voluntary intoxication defense despite the fact that Reaves' confession could have supported such a defense and it was determined during the charge conference that because the jury had been informed of this defense during his first trial, an instruction on voluntary intoxication should be given. The trial court denied relief finding that voluntary intoxication was not an available defense since Reaves' expert testified during a proffer that Reaves was not so intoxicated he did not know right from wrong. appellate court reversed because the lower court's reasoning obscured the difference between an insanity defense and a voluntary intoxication defense, voluntary intoxication was an available defense supported by the record, the claim ineffective assistance was legally sufficient and the record was inconclusive as to why counsel did not advance the defense. The instant case simply does not involve a factually identical situation to which the same law was applied to nonetheless yield different results.

Petitioner's relies upon <u>Rose v. State</u>, 774 So.2d 629 (Fla. 2000) in his attempt to establish the existence of conflict

jurisdiction, <u>Rose</u> is similarly misplaced. Rose appealed the trial court's summary denial of a successive motion for post-conviction relief which asserted that the State had withheld material evidence regarding two of its witnesses pursuant to <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963) and had violated <u>Giglio v. United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150, 92 S.Ct. 763, 31 L.Ed.2d 104 (1972), by intentionally misleading the defense and jury about the motives of those witnesses to testify against him. <u>Rose</u> therefore not only presented a different procedural and factual scenario, the legal issues presented were also different than in this case.

Finally, <u>Seminole Shell Company</u>, <u>Inc. v. Clearwater Flying Company</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 156 So.2d 543 (Fla. 1963) is also distinguishable from this case. <u>Seminole Shell</u> is a civil litigation case seeking damages following an aircraft accident. There, the court held that the inadvertent reference of the owner's witness to the existence of insurance, to which opposing counsel did not object, did not justify a later attempt by opposing counsel to determine if the owner had in fact been compensated by insurance, and the court's belated instruction, in general instructions at the close of the case, that insurance was not an issue, was deemed insufficient to cure the error. Once again, the two cases simply do not present identical facts to which the same law is applied and which yielded contrary results. Conflict jurisdiction does not lie. For all of these reasons, the State

submits that this Court should decline to review this case and find that jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

Standard of Review

An order summarily denying post-conviction relief generally presents an appellate court with a pure question of law, since the issue is whether the claim is cognizable and whether the allegations are sufficient. Orders summarily denying relief are therefore more likely to be resolved by a de novo application of the pertinent legal principles. 2 Fla. Prac., Appellate Practice, § 25.7, Philip J. Padovano, (2004 Ed.). Thus, the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, which affirmed the denial, finding the claim to be facially insufficient, must be reviewed de novo.

Preservation

This issue is preserved.

Burden of Persuasion and Presumption of Correctness

Appellant bears the burden of demonstrating prejudicial error.

According to statute:

In a direct appeal or a collateral proceeding, the party challenging the judgment or order of the trial

court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court.

A conviction or sentence may not be reversed absent an express finding that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court.

§924.051(7), Fla. Stat. (2000); <u>see also</u>, <u>Savage v. State</u>, 156 So. 2d 566, 568 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963) (Judgments are presumed correct and appellants carry the burden of demonstrating harmful error arising from actions of the trial judge.)

<u>Merits</u>

It is generally recognized that where a post-conviction motion lacks sufficient factual allegations, or where alleged facts do not render the judgment vulnerable to collateral attack, the motion may be summarily denied. Randolph v. State, 853 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 2003).

A defendant seeking an evidentiary hearing on a post-conviction relief motion bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850; Atwater v. State, 788 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2001). This Court has indicated on numerous occasions that a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his initial post-conviction motion unless (1) the motion, files and records in the case conclusively show that the defendant is not entitled to any relief, or (2) the motion or a particular claim is legally insufficient. See Maharaj v. State, 684 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1996); Holland v. State, 503 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1987).

A defendant may not simply file a motion for post-conviction relief containing conclusory allegations and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing; the defendant must allege specific facts that, when considering the totality of the circumstances, are not conclusively rebutted by the record.

Allen v. State, 854 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 2003); Irby v. State, 454 So.2d 757 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). See also: Paul Michael Nelson v.

<u>State</u>, 2004 WL 1207517, (Fla. June 3, 2004) wherein this Court approved the District Court's ruling requiring appellant to file a facially sufficient post-conviction motion to warrant relief.).

Petitioner contends that the District Court erred in denying relief by finding that the claim was facially insufficient. He asserts that this ruling conflicts with decisions of this Court in that the court was obligated to accept his factual allegations as true, to the extent they were not refuted by the record, and it instead weighed and rejected those allegations. Petitioner's argument, however, improperly proceeds from the assumption that the allegations were facially sufficient.

In finding that Petitioner's allegation that counsel was ineffective was facially insufficient, the First District Court found that he failed to sufficiently allege that counsel's performance was deficient in that "[a]ll we know from the defendant's allegation is that his lawyer did not object to the emotional outburst. The argument advanced by the defendant proceeds from this simple fact to an assumption that an evidentiary hearing is required. However, the defendant has not alleged that an objection was necessary, or even that it would have been wise." 859 So.2d at 518. The court went on to add that if a post-conviction motion fails to establish that a particular act or omission of counsel fell below the standard of reasonably effective assistance, there is no need for counsel to explain, or for a reviewing court to consider whether the act or omission

was strategic, because the issue presented was "not whether the defendant's trial counsel could have objected; rather, it is whether a reasonably effective lawyer would have objected." Id.

Petitioner's claim ignores the fact that in reviewing a motion for post-conviction relief, a court must first determine whether the motion is legally sufficient. If, upon examination, the motion is found to be defective either in form or substance, and is thus insufficient to state a prima facie case entitling the petitioner to relief, summary disposition is proper. State v. Reynolds, 238 So.2d 598 (Fla. 1970). In other words, as the party challenging the reliability of his conviction, a defendant seeking post-conviction relief, bears the burden of establishing that his judgment is vulnerable to collateral attack. Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 2000). Here, where the Petitioner, as found by the lower court, failed to establish that objection was legally required and appropriate under the circumstances, his allegations were insufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing. <u>Sweet v. State</u>, 810 So.2d 854 (Fla. 2002); <u>Patton v.</u> state, 784 So.2d 380 (Fla. 2000) (Post-conviction relief petitioner bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim). Thus, the lower court properly denied relief, where appellant failed to establish such a prima facie case.

Additionally, as previously stated, it is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies

jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Jenkins</u>, <u>supra</u>. the State notes that Petitioner's argument fails to comport with this jurisdictional requirement. The holding in the opinion below was that appellant's claim was facially insufficient. This is the "result" contemplated by <u>Jenkins</u>. Nevertheless, Petitioner improperly attempts to rely upon a dissenting opinion and dicta to attempt to establish entitlement to review. Nor may he now advance argument not presented to the trial court to establish a legally valid claim.

Also of note is the fact that summary denial of a postconviction motion is appropriate where the petitioner's claim is procedurally barred because it either was, or should have been raised on direct appeal. Blanco v. Wainwright, 507 So.2d 1377 1987). Here, the lower court attached documentation establishing that Petitioner previously raised this issue on direct appeal. While Petitioner complains that this attachment is somehow not one which may properly be relied upon to prove the issue is barred, his complaint is without merit. Not only did Petitioner never challenge the adequacy of the attachment below on the grounds he now asserts, his argument ignores the fact that the trial court may properly take judicial notice of its own files and records, just as it may take judicial notice of those of other courts of this State. Furthermore, the court was not obligated to rely only upon documents filed by Petitioner to establish that the issue was, in fact, raised by him.

Finally, the State asserts that Petitioner is attempting to assert that jurisdiction exists in this Court so that he may challenge the verdict of the jury, something he may not properly do. In essence, Petitioner is seeking to go behind the verdict to determine if an incident, not reported on the record, somehow effected the jury's verdict. Petitioner may not challenge matters inherent in the verdict by direct means, and he certainly should not be permitted to do so via a collateral appeal.

For all of these reasons, this Court should affirm.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD CONSIDER
PETITIONER'S CLAIM THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN
SUMMARILY DENYING A CLAIM WHICH WAS NOT
ADDRESSED BY THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF
APPEAL IN ITS OPINION? (Restated)

Petitioner contends that the trial court erred in summarily denying his claim that counsel rendered ineffective assistance by advising him to take a polygraph examination and in entering into a stipulation that the results would be admissible at trial. He asserts that even where the lower court did not address this issue in its opinion, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction to review this issue. The State disagrees.

Jurisdiction and Standard of Review

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